
 

 

 

 

One Olde Half Day Road 

L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  

www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

 

V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2016\2016_4_12_ARB_Minutes.doc Page 1 

 
PRESENT: Chairman Grover, Trustee-Liaison Hancock, Members, Hardnock, Baskin, 

and Barranco. 
 
ABSENT: Members Gulatee, Jensen, and Kennerley  
      
ALSO PRESENT: Tonya Zozulya, Economic Development Coordinator 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
     
1.0 ROLL CALL 

The roll was called by Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya and Chairman 
Grover declared a quorum to be present.  

             
 
2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

2.1 Approval of February 16, 2016 Architectural Review Board Minutes 
  
 Member Hardnock moved to approve the minutes as written and Member 

Baskin seconded the motion to approve the February 16, 2016 Architectural 
Review Board Minutes. The motion passed unanimously by voice vote.  

 
2.2 Approval of February 29, 2016 Architectural Review Board Minutes. 
 
 Member Hardnock moved to approve the minutes as written and Member 

Baskin seconded the motion to approve the February 29, 2016 Architectural 
Review Board Minutes. The motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

           
3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 
 

3.1  Public Hearing regarding Sign Code Variation Request to Permit Front-lit Interior-
Illuminated Wall Signs for Oak Tree Corners Retail Center, 430 Milwaukee 
Avenue (FREP Lincolnshire, LLC). 

   
 Chairman Grover moved to recess the Architectural Review Board Meeting and 

convene the public hearing. Chairman Grover then outlined public hearing 
procedures.  

  
 Eric Mr. Jacobson of Frontline Real Estate Partners (FREP), the owner and 

manager of the Oak Tree Corners Shopping Center, took the stand and was 
sworn in. Mr. Jacobson explained their goal is to bring the existing signage into 
compliance with the Sign Code and are seeking a variation to have front lit rather 
than rear lit signage. Mr. Jacobson then gave an overview of the current 
signage as well as examples of the proposed changes. Mr. Jacobson noted they 

APPROVED Minutes of the ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD held on Tuesday, 
April 12, 2016, in the Public Meeting Room of the Village Hall, One Olde 
Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL. 



 

 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 

L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  

www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

 

V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2016\2016_4_12_ARB_Minutes.doc  Page 2 

E

also propose to remove the Bonta box sign from the facade as it is no longer 
complaint with code. Mr. Jacobson then showed a floor plan noting the locations 
of the proposed signage, with one wall sign per tenant per elevation. There is a 5’ 
minimum separation provided between any adjoining wall signs. He also noted 
FREP is close to signing a lease with Athletico Physical Therapy, who they 
anticipate will occupy the majority of the east side of the building, necessitating 
only one wall sign. There is, however, potential for the need of another sign if the 
event Athletico does not choose to occupy two spaces. Mr. Jacobson further 
explained FREP is asking for the variation as there is no ability to back lit signage 
due to the sloped mansard roof and the proposed raceway-mounted sign design. 
FREP believes front lit signage would look more professional, and is consistent 
with other front lit signage throughout the Village.  

  
 Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya explained staff has worked with 

the petitioner to verify the building construction limitations and noted the 
petitioner cites their request of a variation is for a true hardship, and possible 
other options other than front lit lighting. Economic Development Coordinator 
Zozulya explained goose neck lighting was considered, but also found not viable 
for the site. She noted front lit signs are permitted in other centers in the Village, 
and staff has found front lit signage to be successful. She further noted staff is in 
support of the petition with the following recommendations: 

 
1. The exterior box signs from the north and east elevations be removed. The 

applicant is in support of this recommendation.  
2. The petitioner submit a plan for a code complaint trash enclosure for the site 

by August 1st, 2016 with construction of the enclosure to be completed by 
November 1st, 2016. The petitioner is in support of this recommendation.  

 
FREP’s responses to the variation standards were entered into public record.   
   
Chairman Grover asked if the proposal only included white lettering per the 
provided simulations. Mr. Jacobson responded that only white lettering is 
proposed, and Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya confirmed white 
lettering is a requirement for multi-tenant commercial building wall signs; 
however, registered logos are not limited by color.  
 
Trustee Hancock noted that Subway restaurant at the Village Green Center has 
a wall sign consistent with their established brand colors. Economic 
Development Coordinator Zozulya stated the Village Green Center is an Area 
of Special Sign Control with its own set of signage regulations and does allow for 
colored signs and logos. Trustee Hancock asked if the petitioner is interested in 
non-white signage. Mr. Jacobson responded that it is possible if there is a 
tenant with an established logo they wish to use as their sign which includes non-
white lettering, but given the current tenants they do not foresee the need for 
non-white lettering.  
 
Member Baskin asked if the fonts are to be consistent throughout the center, 
noting his concern is too many different fonts would make the center look 
disjointed. Mr. Jacobson responded they would look to the sign code to govern 



 

 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 

L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  

www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

 

V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2016\2016_4_12_ARB_Minutes.doc  Page 3 

E

font usage; therefore it is possible to have different fonts throughout the center as 
the sign code permits different fonts with Village approval. Economic 
Development Coordinator Zozulya stated font is most often dictated by the 
brand and the sign code does not specify a font to be used. Member Hardnock 
stated it makes sense to use fonts which match an existing brand. Member 
Baskin added he has worked with companies with strong brands which have 
made changes to comply with signage regulations when entering a new market 
and he would like the caveat added that if no branding is involved with signage, 
the font size and style be consistent throughout the center. Mr. Jacobson replied 
he understands Member Baskin’s comment but feels that there should be some 
flexibility in the font style as it may be beneficial to attracting tenants. Trustee 
Hancock commented that the Village code is silent on font requirements, and the 
ARB is not seeking to rewrite the code at this meeting. Economic Development 
Coordinator Zozulya stated the ARB could set requirements for this specific 
center which do not affect the rest of the Village without changing the code. Mr. 
Jacobson noted FREP plans other improvements at the property including roof 
work, landscaping, and over $100,000 of interior work which may go towards 
alleviating some of Member Baskin’s concerns of the aesthetics of the center.  
 
Member Baskin asked for further information on the planned roof improvements. 
Mr. Jacobson explained the plan is to replace the current cedar shake shingles 
with asphalt shingles, while maintaining the mansard design. Chairman Grover 
commented he was not concerned with the font issue as businesses are going to 
be limited in what fonts are practical as they have to be legible from the street. 
Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya suggested the font style could 
be held consistent while providing flexibility for businesses with a preexisting 
brand identity. Member Hardnock stated he feels it would be difficult for the ARB 
to prescribe a font at this time since they have only seen mockups of the signage 
for the purposes of illustrating the front lit signage. 
 
Chairman Grover closed the public hearing and reconvened the ARB meeting. 
 

 Chairman Grover called for a motion to recommend agenda item 3.1 for Village 
Board approval with the discussed conditions. Member Hardnock made the 
motion and Member Baskin seconded the motion, and the motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
3.2 Approval of a Center-Wide Comprehensive Wall Sign Package for Oak Tree 

Corners Retail Center, 430 Milwaukee Avenue (FREP Lincolnshire, LLC).  
 
 Chairman Grover called for a motion to recommend agenda item 3.2 for Village 

Board approval. Member Hardnock made the motion and Member Baskin 
seconded the motion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 
3.3 Approval of a New Roof Material and Color for Oak Tree Corners Retail Center, 

430 Milwaukee Avenue (FREP Lincolnshire, LLC).  
  
 Eric Jacobson of FREP gave an overview of the proposed plans to replace the 

existing grey shake shingles with asphalt shingles. Economic Development 



 

 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 

L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  

www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

 

V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2016\2016_4_12_ARB_Minutes.doc  Page 4 

E

Coordinator Zozulya noted staff is in support of the new roof material, 
mentioning the building across the parking lot, slated to open as a Strawberry 
Fields Pancake House, is also replacing the existing roof with similar asphalt 
shingles.  

 
 Member Hardnock asked if a metal roof had been considered, as he feels there 

may be other options which could further elevate the center’s aesthetics. Mr. 
Jacobson stated other options were considered, but they feel the proposed work 
provides the biggest improvement for the funds invested.  

 
 Member Baskin stated he favors wood shingles as asphalt shingles can be seen 

as mundane, and is not in favor of the proposed changes to the roof. Trustee 
Hancock asked if the roof is in need of replacement. Mr. Jacobson replied it is, 
and the proposed plan is a financially viable one which can be immediately 
executed and bring improvement to the site. Member Baskin inquired about why 
the shingles need to be replaced. Mr. Jacobson replied they estimate the 
shingles to be roughly 25 years old.  

 
 Trustee Hancock stated he feels the proposed asphalt shingles are appropriate 

given the state of the current roof as well as roofs of surrounding properties.  
 
 Mr. Jacobson also noted FREP plans to repave the parking lot and add new 

landscaping in the future. The Board discussed the look of the roof and current 
architectural trends. Member Baskin stated he would like to see a report 
verifying the roof needs replacement. The contractor for FREP took the stand, 
reporting that the roof is in need of immediate replacement due to missing 
shingles and the overall age of the roof material.  

 
Member Hardnock motioned to approve agenda item 3.4, which was seconded 
by Member Baskin. Economic Development Coordinator took the roll call as 
follow: 
Yea: Chairman Grover, Members Hardnock and Barranco 
Nay: Member Baskin 
 
Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya noted that final authority on this 
item rests with the ARB, but she needs to verify the item needs a simple majority 
rather than 4 positive votes for approval with the Village Attorney. She will verify 
and report to the ARB [update: the Village Attorney confirmed 3 positive ARB 
votes were sufficient to pass the motion; therefore, the roof request was 
approved].   

 
3.4 Review of Site Design, Landscape Plans, Building Elevations, Exterior Lighting, 

Parking, Exterior Signage and Site Amenities for Proposed Redevelopment of 
Regal Theater Site, Including a 302-Unit Luxury Apartment Complex and 
Renovated Regal Theater in CityPark Development, Southwest Corner of 
Milwaukee Avenue and Aptakisic Road (ECD-Lincolnshire Theater, LLC) 

 



 

 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 

L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  

www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

 

V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2016\2016_4_12_ARB_Minutes.doc  Page 5 

E

 Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya introduced the agenda item and 
gave a brief history of the project as well as the previous comments and requests 
of the ARB. 

  
 Mark Kurensky of HKM Architects, representing the petitioner, ECD 

Lincolnshire Theater LLC, took the stand and gave an overview of the updates to 
the proposal in response to the ARB’s comments. Of note, the plan now includes 
a full landscape plan, with details on plant quantities, locations, appearance of 
landscape, and increased use of winter plants to increase color during winter 
months. In response to a previous ARB comment, he showed a rendering of a 
different color of the facade of the building, but urged the ARB to retain the 
originally proposed green for the façade as the Petitioner felt the green was a 
better match which would age more gracefully than the blue shown for 
comparison.  

 
 Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya noted the Village Board 

commented during a preliminary evaluation meeting they would like to see less 
unit density in the proposal. She also noted staff is in support of the current 
proposal, however feels there is an opportunity to enhance evergreen planting 
along the west side of the west building and along the south sides of the west 
and east buildings. Staff also asks for further detail on the circulation plan, as the 
Village Engineer believes there are further opportunities to improve the plan.  

 
 Chairman Grover first reported that Member Gulatee, who could not be present 

at the meeting, feels the development is fundamentally flawed and is overall too 
large for the site.  

 
Member Baskin noted he is much more in support of this revised plan than 
previous iterations, and he feels it is overall well done and will appeal to 
millennials.  
 
Member Hardnock stated he has no major issues with the site design.  
 
The group discussed and asked questions on the design of the building and 
material choice. Member Grover stated he feels there may be too much mass 
on the site. Mark Hopkins of HKM Architects responded the articulated nature 
of the buildings and the color differentiation was intended to break up the 
massing of the buildings. Member Baskin stated he feels the development does 
a good job of giving a feel of an urban downtown style of living with a blending of 
Village life. He also noted he feels the massing is appropriate and is well broken 
up. Member Barranco agreed with Member Baskin, stating she feels the 
development is appealing. 
 
Member Baskin stated he would like to see the trees moved closer together and 
find areas where masses of evergreens can be placed to provide concentrated 
green spaces in the winter. Mr. Kurensky reported on several areas throughout 
the development where they have tried to amass evergreens to provide 
concentrated green space. He stated they will continue to work with staff on 
adding evergreens to the plan. 



 

 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 

L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  

www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

 

V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2016\2016_4_12_ARB_Minutes.doc  Page 6 

E

 
Member Barranco asked if there are any speed bumps planned. Mr. Kurensky 
stated there are not, and they plan to add them only if necessary.  
 
The group discussed the traffic flow, asking several clarifying questions, and the 
ARB encouraged extensive wayfinding signage to ensure traffic flows efficiently.   
 
Trustee Hancock asked about assumptions regarding traffic flow, specifically 
regarding the number of vehicles leaving the parking lot in the morning.  
 
Bill Woodward of KLOA Traffic Consultants responded the numbers come 
from the Institute of Transportation Engineers. Trustee Hancock asked if the trip 
generation figures would change dramatically if the demographics of the 
residents changed. Mr. Woodward stated they would not.  
 
Member Hardnock inquired about the reasoning behind placing the monument 
sign along Aptakisic Road. Mr. Kurensky responded that since the Board asked 
for pedestrian access to the theater from Aptakisic Road, the petitioner wanted to 
add a design element to the area where the sidewalk would be placed, to 
augment the pedestrian walk.  
 
Chairman Grover inquired about the size of the monument sign. Economic 
Development Coordinator Zozulya replied the sign does not meet code, 
therefore the Petitioner is asking for an exception from the code, though staff 
does not have an issue with the request as it is an architectural design element 
which adds to the site. 
 
The ARB discussed the monument sign landscape options presented, and 
consented that the original option, as it is depicted in the information provided, is 
preferred.   
 
Member Hardnock moved to recommend approval of agenda item 3.4 to the 
Village Board as presented subject to staff’s recommendations regarding 
additional evergreen trees along the north side of the west building and south 
side of both buildings as well as the Petitioner working with staff on additional site 
circulation options. Member Baskin seconded the motion, which passed 
unanimously.   
         

3.5 Approval of New Exterior Building Colors and New Roof Material and Color for 
Strawberry Field Restaurant, 410 Milwaukee Avenue (Strawberry Field Pancakes 
& Café Inc).  

 
 Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya introduced the petitioner, gave a 

brief history of the property, and summarized the requests of the petition.   
  

Joseph Drelich, 410 Milwaukee Avenue property owner, gave a summary of 
the proposal and provided the ARB with two asphalt shingle options of the 
proposed roof color from the same Owens Corning brand.  
 



 

 

 
 

One Olde Half Day Road 

L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  

www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

 

V:\Shared_Files\Advisory_Boards\ARB\MINUTES\2016\2016_4_12_ARB_Minutes.doc  Page 7 

E

 Mr. Gus Romas, Strawberry Field restaurant owner, stated he prefers the 
Brownwood option due to warmer colors. Member Baskin noted he preferred the 
Flagstone roofing option with blue speckles. Member Hardnock stated he liked 
the Brownwood roofing. The group discussed the two options and consented to 
defer to staff’s recommendation in working with the petitioner.  

 
 The ARB also agreed with staff’s recommendation to add additional screening in 

the form of architectural panels or walls to the west side of the building.  
 
 Member Hardnock inquired as to colors to be used on exterior “Strawberry 

Field” wall signage which will be submitted to the Village for a sign permit. Mr. 
Romas responded wall signs will be black and he does not plan to use a 
restaurant logo to keep the sign more visible.  

 
Member Hardnock motioned to approve agenda item 3.5 subject to 
recommendations contained in the staff memorandum and staff’s final approval 
of the roof color between the Owens Corning Brownwood and Flagstone. The 
motion was seconded by Member Baskin and passed unanimously.  

  
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS (None)   
5.0 NEW BUSINESS (None)      
6.0 CITIZEN COMMENTS (None) 

7.0 ADJOURNMENT   
 
There being no further business, Chairman Grover adjourned the meeting at 9:55 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Youssef Shoukry, Management Analyst   

 


